FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/2/2025 4:02 PM

Supreme Court No.	
--------------------------	--

BY SARAH R. PENDLETON EME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK

Case #: 1041250

LARA B. SEEFELDT,

Respondent,

v.

Albert W Coburn

Appellant

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT THE HONORABLE JANET HELSON

No. 16-3-06380-6

Motion for Discretionary Review TREATED AS A PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appellant ALBERT COBURN (Pro Se)

7001 Seaview AVE NW Suite 160-836 Seattle WA 98117 206-696-2636

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant is Albert Coburn (Coburn), in the below Court of Appeals Division One Case No. 865021. Respondent is Lara Seefeldt (Seefeldt).

Coburn is without counsel, is not schooled in the law and legal procedures, and is not licensed to practice law; therefore, his pleadings must be read and construed liberally. See *Haines v. Kerner*, 404 US at 520 (1980); *Birl v. Estelle*, 660 F.2d 592 (1981). Further Coburn believes that this court has a responsibility and legal duty to protect any and all of Coburn's constitutional and statutory rights. See *United States v. Lee*, 106 US 196,220 [1882].

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Coburn seeks review of decision of *In the Matter of the Marriage of LARA*BROOKE SEEFELDT, Respondent, and ALBERT WHITNEY COBURN, Appellant.

Case No. 65021. (Appendix A) and requests the Court reverse the Court of

Appeals and grant review of the trial court's decision under RAP 2.3(b) and RAP

13.S(b).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Did Court of Appeals err by failing to address whether compliance with the private school support order was within financial means before enforcing penalties for non-compliance?

The ruling concerns a King County Family Court decision finding that Coburn, a parent of a disabled minor child, failed to properly invoke arbitration regarding private versus public school attendance for the 2023-2024 school year and holding him in contempt for failing to pay tuition costs which exceeded his disposable earnings. The trial judge, Janet Helson, had previously ordered private school attendance for a disabled minor child on April 22, 2022, mandating private education over a public-school alternative and modifying how parenting plan arbitration would occur without a parenting plan modification. No assessment was conducted to determine

whether Coburn had sufficient disposable income, savings, assets, or access to credit to cover the additional private school tuition costs prior to the contempt hearing. See Statement of Case. Arguments raised by Coburn and court responses:

- Unclear Support Amount: Coburn argued the order requiring three continuous years of private school lacked a specific support figure, making enforcement improper.
- Failure to Assess Ability to Pay: Coburn presented evidence showing the tuition increased his obligations by 72% and that his total child support obligations equaled 169% of his disposable income (CP 177-86). He contended that arbitration—required by the agreed-upon parenting plan—had not occurred and should have been resolved before a contempt hearing. Additionally, the court failed to evaluate his financial capacity when ordering private school attendance (financial evidence was dismissed, no child support worksheet created), violating his 14th Amendment due process rights.

The Court of Appeals upheld the ruling, concluding Coburn was able—but unwilling—to pay tuition directly to the private school. It dismissed his financial evidence as inadequate, stating it should have been presented in arbitration that Coburn allegedly failed to invoke, and reaffirmed that

proving inability or unwillingness to comply rests solely on the party resisting contempt.

B. Did Court of Appeals err in ignoring evidence indicating that the disabled child was struggling academically at the private school and whether the private school meets federal requirements for the least restrictive learning environment for the child?

The Court of Appeals ruled that private school efficacy was irrelevant to Coburn's non-compliance with tuition payments. However, Coburn presented district test scores showing the child was significantly behind her peers after the 2022-2023 school year (CP 91). Seefeldt provided no contrary academic evidence, nor was required to do so for continued private school attendance through 8th grade. The private school itself held no obligation to follow an IEP process and requested that parents sign an injury liability waiver absolving responsibility for educational inadequacies. See Statement of Case.

Arguments raised by Coburn and court responses:

 Lack of Educational Oversight: Coburn argued that when ordering or enforcing private school attendance for a disabled child, the Court must require that substantial upwards deviations from standard child support be substantially warranted. To enforce payment of extraordinary educational or medical expenses, the state must assess need and efficacy. This was not done and this failure violated the child's federal right to public school education in the least restrictive environment and rendered the order unenforceable.

The Court of Appeals dismissed this, stating that Coburn's concerns about private school efficacy vs public school attendance should have been addressed through arbitration, which was ruled he failed to invoke, were irrelevant to the contempt motion (No. 86502-1-I Division 1 Unpublished Opinion pg. 7).

C. Did Court of Appeals err in holding Coburn in contempt for not signing private school contract containing injury liability release?

Coburn's non-payment of the tuition for court ordered private school attendance was due in part to the fact that the private school required a signed contract that included a liability waiver for injury to the child and would not accept payment from Coburn unless he signed the contract. (VRP at Pg. 6, lines 13-18). Coburn had a strong disagreement with this requirement due to the "*injury Evelyn sustained while at APL*" (CP 73) the previous 2022-2023 year and concerns about continued inadequate education (CP 91). Seefeldt specifically requested the court to order Coburn to sign the contract, but the trial judge ruled only on failure to pay tuition.

The only supporting evidence included was the APL contract, which required Coburn's signature, and a statement from APL confirming this requirement. See Statement of Case for additional facts.

Arguments raised by Coburn and court responses:

Coburn argued that APL required him signing the contract for
payment to occur and any claim it was not required was hearsay, and
that enforcing penalties for non-payment effectively coerced him into
signing a liability waiver violating the Equal Protection clause of the
14th Amendment that requires persons in like circumstances to be
treated similarly.

Court of Appeals dismissed this indicating *no evidence in the record* supports Coburn's claim that APL will not accept payment from him unless he signs an enrollment contract and agrees to a liability waiver. (No. 86502-1-I Division 1 Unpublished Opinion pg. 4).

D. Did the Court of Appeals err by relying on unverified claims rather than direct evidence to determine Coburn willfully refused to pay private school child support?

The Court of Appeals ruling concerns Seefeldt's request for contempt, alleging Coburn *refused to sign the private school contract* (CP 18). However, APL was not a party to the case and did not issue an invoice or

payment statement for the 2023-2024 school year. No evidence from APL confirming Coburn's obligation to pay was presented at the contempt hearing, and the school itself did not attempt to collect tuition from him. Additionally, ten days before filing for contempt, Seefeldt presented a signed promissory note from her father, ostensibly to pay the outstanding tuition (CP 18, 63), but did not inform Coburn she had borrowed this money and presented no receipts that this money was actually received and applied by APL to the tuition balance.

Unverified Financial Obligation: Coburn argued he had not received
an invoice and did not know where to send tuition payments. He also
contended there was no proof Seefeldt had paid full tuition as claimed.
 Coburn asserted that without evidence from APL confirming the
amount due, the enforcement of payment was improperly based on
hearsay.

Court of Appeals dismissed this argument stating that *Coburn did not dispute his failure to pay his proportional share of tuition*.

E. Did the Court of Appeals err by contradicting itself on the Division of
Child Support's (DCS) authority to enforce child support obligations?

The Court of Appeals ruled that DCS was not required to enforce
educational expenses. Seefeldt repeatedly sought DCS enforcement for APL

tuition before the child's 5th and 6th grade years, but DCS refused, stating modification of the child support order was necessary. Before the contempt hearing, Coburn also requested DCS enforcement via wage garnishment. DCS rejected this, citing the need for a sum certain amount in a court order. Arguments raised by Coburn and court responses:

• DCS Authority and Lack of Willful Non-Payment: Coburn argued requesting garnishment was not willful refusal to pay. He contended that, based on a prior Court of Appeals ruling, DCS and state law authorize enforcement of all support—even without a sum certain amount.

The Court of Appeals responded that DCS was not legally required, or authorized, to enforce his tuition obligation when no specific monthly amount was set forth in a child support order.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Coburn and Seefeldt share a disabled child with autism (CP 15). In 2016, Seefeldt and her family accused Coburn of child abuse in a divorce petition, but the allegations were never reported to Child Protective Services (CPS), merely used as a basis to seize primary custody of the child after Coburn lobbied for joint custody. At the hearing for temporary orders, Seefeldt was awarded sole authority over

medical and educational decisions (CP 15), continued to voice allegations,

Coburn's rights were restricted yet CPS was still not contacted and he was granted
unsupervised visitation. To prove his innocence and regain time with his daughter,

Coburn participated in mediation and ultimately agreed to a financial settlement in
exchange for expanded visitation. Seefeldt then dropped all abuse claims, proving
they were meretricious.

The agreement formed the basis for the final 2018 parenting plan and 2018 child support order (CP 11-14), which outlined Coburn's visitation rights and financial obligations, including responsibility for 70.2% of medical and educational expenses (CP 42, 45). The child support order required Coburn pay monthly child support to Seefeldt directly. Seefeldt then alleged to DCS that Coburn had not paid 7 months of basic child support in 2019. This was a lie; he had. DCS attempted to collect \$20,880.80 in back support that Coburn had already paid. A court ruling on 04/12/2019, found no back support was owed but ordered future payments to be made through DCS (CP 257-58), for Coburn's protection against future false claims.

Sadly, DCS has refused to follow the court order that all support payments be enforced and simply garnish Coburn's wages but did not and do not enforce medical or educational expenses, most likely due to avoidance of challenges that come with high conflict cases and continuing expenses that exceed maximum wage

garnishment caps that both Seefeldt and court orders flout. Court of Appeals ruled on 09/19/2022 that modification of 2018 child support was not needed for DCS enforcement of all expenses (*Coburn v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, No. 83557-2-I (Wash. Ct. App. Sep. 19, 2022)). Despite this ruling, DCS continued excluding medical and educational support from enforcement.

The 2018 final parenting plan outlines procedures for disputes regarding medical and education-related support obligations. It provides that any "new medical or educational services" which would require a financial contribution of over \$500 or \$100 per month "will be subject to arbitration if the father gives written notice of objection within 1 week of receiving notice. (CP 24)." In 2019, the court removed third-party arbitration and retained jurisdiction, with Judge Janet Helson overseeing motions since 2020.

Seefeldt enrolled the child in a private school (APL) for 4th grade the 2021-2022 school year after Coburn homeschooled their daughter full-time during Covid. Coburn signed the contract upon agreement that he would not back further attendance if significant progress was not made. For 5th grade, he objected on the basis of non-efficacy but was over-ruled by the Court. Judge Helson ordered continued enrollment through 8th grade unless Coburn invoked arbitration (CP 25) and gave a deadline of "no later than May 1, 2023, the father shall either confirm

his agreement or invoke arbitration" (CP 25). The court order did not assess Coburn's financial ability to pay.

Order acknowledged APL required parents to sign stating, *parents are required to sign a new contract each year* (CP 25). The private school contract contains requirements regarding the amount to be paid, when, and a bank deduction agreement. It furthermore contained a release of liability of injury for any injuries to the child while in attendance at the school (CP 90). Both parties asked the DCS to additionally enforce 5th private school tuition which would allow Coburn to pay the APL tuition through DCS and not have to sign the contract. DCS refused and indicated the 2018 child support order must be modified to include educational tuition as child support (CP 205). With no ability to pay through DCS, Coburn signed the contract for 5th grade fearing contempt.

For 6th grade, Seefeldt notified Coburn of continued private school attendance (CP 18, 52). Coburn objected, citing financial hardship writing that "I don't have the money. Can't afford to live" (CP 52). During 30-day arbitration deadline, Seefeldt withheld the child from visitation. At a parental visitation enforcement hearing on 06/05/2023, arbitration did not occur (CP 163-64, 172). Concerned about his daughter's prior injury at APL, Coburn refused to sign the contract. Seefeldt in response demanded Coburn sign the school contract and contribute your proportionate share of the tuition, this would be in line with the Court's orders and

our shared responsibilities (CP 56). Both parties again sought DCS enforcement, but DCS declined, citing the need for a modified child support order and sum certain amount (CP 58). Seefeldt filed a motion as for contempt indicating Coburn willfully has refused to sign the contract for the new school year (CP 18). Seefeldt contempt motion requested "Albert be required to sign" (CP 6) private school contract but presented as evidence a signed promissory note with her father signed just 10 days before filing for contempt as proof, she already paid Coburn's proportional share of tuition. Seefeldt demanded Coburn be required to pay full share of Evelyn's tuition for the 6th grade (\$21,060), and require him to pay said amount within 72 hours (CP 6). Trial judge declined to require Coburn to sign contract or full payment within 72 hours and ruled that because Coburn had failed to invoke arbitration was able to pay in willfully failed to pay support to the private school and in contempt (CP 239). Order required DCS enforcement of tuition payment to date paid to Seefeldt, with a purge contingency that Coburn pay remaining school year payments to private school (CP 240-41). Coburn appealed (CP 249).

ARGUMENT

Question A: Did Court of Appeals err by failing to address whether compliance with the private school support order was within financial means before enforcing penalties for non-compliance?

Argument A:

Explicit Financial Burden: The Court of Appeals erred in this regard. Imposing child support obligations that exceed a parent's ability to pay risks equating compliance with financial impossibility, essentially creating a modern form of debtor's prison. There was an absence of a clear financial assessment in the original 04/22/2022 court order requiring private school attendance as it did not contain: a sum certain amount of tuition costs, did not include financial declarations as required by Local Family Law Rule 10¹, or a child support worksheet as required by RCW 26.19. Intent of legislators is made clear by RCW 26.19.001(1) that completing child support worksheet was to increase the adequacy of child support orders through the use of economic data as the basis for establishing the child support schedule. Without evaluating Coburn's ability to meet the child support obligations, the courts imposed penalties that disregarded financial feasibility, leading to procedural uncertainty and inequity. It is uncontested that Coburn requested a child support modification 04/22/2022 that was denied (CP 25) and his appeal was also denied (Brief of Resp. pg. 13). "It is well settled that 'the law presumes that one is capable of performing those actions required by the court ... [and the] inability to comply is an affirmative defense.' [Cite omitted.] But

⁻

¹ (LFLR 10)(a)(1) each party shall complete, sign, file, and serve on all parties a financial declaration for any motion, trial, or settlement conference that concerns the following issues (A) Payment of a child's expenses, such as tuition.

exercise of the contempt power is appropriate only when 'the court finds that the person has failed or refused to perform an act that is yet within the person's power to perform.' ... Thus, a threshold requirement is a finding of current ability to perform the act previously ordered." Britannia Holdings Ltd. v. Greer, 127 Wn. App. 926, 933-34, 113 P.3d 1041 (2005) (emphasis added). Coburn argued that compliance with the court's order was impossible because he was already "living" in a van" and presented evidence showing his obligations exceeded 100% of his disposable income and consisted of 169% of his disposable income for 2023 (CP 177-186). Though the trial judge observed "the reality is, given these parties ...levels of income, it doesn't really appear to me that they can pay \$30,000 a year for their child's education." (VRP at pg.17, lines 18-20), but the judge dismissed Coburn's financial evidence without any evaluation. Courts should allow parties to address perceived deficiencies in financial evidence before rendering a judgment on contempt when determining payment is within the person's power to perform and in doing so is violation of due process. In Marriage of James, the Court of Appeals reversed a finding of contempt of a parenting plan, finding that the trial court was required to find bad faith. James also urged trial courts to consider lesser sanctions: "A trial court may also find a party in contempt when it has first tried to resolve parenting violations with lesser sanctions which did not achieve the requisite compliance with the plan." Marriage of James, 79 Wn. App. 436,

441, 903 P.2d 470 (1995). The Court of Appeals did uphold Coburn's right to invoke arbitration simply by objecting in writing within the specified deadline as per the parenting plan; nonetheless, they upheld the trial judge's decision to withhold arbitration from Coburn on the basis that his objection stated in the time frame did not contain the word "arbitration." This is a provision that is not in the parenting plan.

Regardless of whether Seefeldt had already enrolled the child in the private school, the most obvious lesser sanction would have been to order the parties into arbitration and submit LFLR 10 financial declarations to determine financial feasibility for both parties, otherwise a judgement cannot be made claiming Coburn was *able to pay* and was in bad faith. An additional lesser sanction could have been order for the DCS to enforce tuition payments, as trial court acknowledged "DCS will not collect them until reduced to a judgment, which this is about to be." (VRP pg. 19-20, lines 22 1). Trial judge chose a punitive finding of contempt of child support, specifically over all less sanctions, and Court of Appeals affirmed.

Question B: Did Court of Appeals err in ignoring evidence indicating that the disabled child was struggling academically at the private school and whether the private school meets federal requirements for the least restrictive learning environment for the child?

Argument B:

False Narrative: The Court of Appeals opinion, which dismisses the relevance of private school efficacy, obscures critical facts. A disabled child was ordered to attend private school from 6th to 8th grade without any substantial proof that the private school offered services that public school could not offer nor annual review of academic progress. The school bears no obligation to provide an adequate education, as evidenced by a liability waiver, absolving the school of responsibility, including for any failure to educate the child properly.

The trial judge's 04/22/2022 order stated that if Coburn did not arbitrate middle school enrollment, Seefeldt's proposed arrangement—including cost-sharing—would be ratified. However, neither parent sought continuous enrollment without academic evaluation. Despite the court mandate for private school attendance, Seefeldt recently transferred the child to public school for 7th grade—violating the same order under which Coburn is now held in contempt.

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