FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/10/2025 1:21 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 104125-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

LARA B. SEEFELDT, Respondent,

v.

ALBERT W. COBURN, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

JENNIFER
PAPAHRONIS, PLLC

(206) 745-7400

By: Jennifer Papahronis
WSBA No. 41561
By: Valerie A. Villacin
WSBA No. 34515

3417 Evanston Ave. North, Suite 428 Seattle, WA 98103 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

The trial court rejected Coburn's argument that he was not in contempt because DCS should have garnished his wages to pay the tuition expense. The trial court noted that while DCS is enforcing his "basic child support" obligation, it is "fairly normal for expenses," such as tuition, "to be paid directly" either to the provider or other parent. (*See* RP 16; *see also* CP 42) The trial court also stated that it did not believe that DCS will garnish wages

for tuition unless it is included "within basic child support."
(RP 17) In fact, as DCS had explained to Seefeldt, it could not garnish wages to collect tuition expenses unless "a sum certain amount [is] listed in the court order rather than a proportional share." (CP 58)

The trial court noted the only relevant "defense to a finding of contempt" was for Coburn to "show that you do not have the ability to pay" (RP 18), but found Coburn presented no evidence that he lacked the ability to pay daughter's education expenses. (*See* RP 10-11, 19) The trial court stated that had Coburn "provided that information instead of making a number of frivolous arguments about appeals and other issues that have already been resolved, I might well find that you're not in contempt." (RP 19)

On March 4, 2024, the trial court entered its order holding Coburn in contempt based on its finding that violated the child support order by failing to "pay for the child's education expenses (private school tuition for 2023-

2024 school year)." (CP 239) The trial court noted that because the child support order, which was entered six years earlier, had never been adjusted or modified, either party could petition to modify the child support order, which "may change each party's proportionate share of private school tuition going forward." (CP 241)

The trial court ordered Coburn to pay the back support of \$16,848 owed for his proportionate share of tuition to Seefeldt, and make future payment directly to the school. (CP 241) The trial court awarded Seefeldt attorney fees of \$4,022 and ordered Coburn to pay a civil penalty of \$100. (CP 240)

F. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the order finding father in contempt.

Coburn appealed from the contempt order. On March 10, 2025, Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed the contempt order in an unpublished decision and awarded Seefeldt fees on appeal under RCW 26.18.160 and RCW 7.21.030(3), as the prevailing party in a contempt action.

III. GROUNDS FOR DENYING REVIEW

Petitioner fails to present any grounds warranting review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision affirming the trial court's contempt order under RAP 13.4(b). Even if he had, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b) because the court's decision affirming the trial court's fact-based discretionary decision holding Coburn in contempt does not conflict with any published appellate court decisions, does not raise a significant question of law under the constitution, and does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

This Court should deny review and award Seefeldt fees for answering this petition.

A. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with decisional law holding that it is the alleged contemnor's burden to prove the defense of inability to comply.

In its unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals accurately set forth the standard of review for orders finding a parent in contempt of a child support order: "If a parent fails to comply with a child support order, then a court may hold that parent in contempt. Marriage of Didier, 134 Wn. App. 490, 500, ¶20, 140 P.3d 607 (2006), rev. denied, 160 Wn.2d 1012 (2007). Whether contempt is warranted in a particular case is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court; unless that discretion is abused, it should not be disturbed on appeal. Moreman v. Butcher, 126 Wn.2d 36, 40, 891 P.2d 725 (1995) (quoting King v. Department of Social and Health Services, 110 Wn.2d 793, 798, 756 P.2d 1303 (1988)). An abuse of discretion is present only if there is a clear showing that the exercise of discretion was manifestly unreasonable, based on untenable grounds, or based on untenable reasons.

Moreman, 126 Wn.2d at 40." (Op. 5, internal quotations omitted)

The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's contempt order here is wholly consistent with these decisions and does not warrant review by this Court. Coburn nevertheless complains that in affirming the trial court, the court did not "address whether compliance with the private school support order was within [his] financial means." (Pet. 15-17) However, as the court accurately noted, an "obligor claiming an inability to comply with an existing support order must specifically provide evidence showing 'due diligence in seeking employment, in conserving assets' and otherwise attempting to meet their obligations." (Op. 7, citing RCW 26.18.050(4)) In other words, the obligor bears "the burden of production and the burden of persuasion regarding any claimed inability to comply with a court order." (Op. 7, citing Moreman, 126 Wn.2d at 40) Further, the evidence offered to prove an

inability to comply with a court order "must be of a kind the court finds credible." (Op. 7, citing Moreman, 126 Wn.2d at 40-41)

While the Court of Appeals acknowledged that the trial court "expressed some concern about the affordability of the tuition for the parents," the court recognized that Coburn failed to provide the trial court with an "evidentiary basis to conclude that Coburn was unable to comply with the child support order." (Op. 8) As the court noted, Coburn had not provided any of the financial documents required by local rule, "such as financial declaration, tax documents, pay stubs, and/or bank statements," that would have allowed the trial court "to evaluate his ability to pay." (Op. 8, citing King County Local Family Law Rule 10(b))

Because Coburn provided only a "single pay stub for one two-week period in December 2023" and a self-created spreadsheet "with entries for 'Net Pay' earnings and 'Support Payments' between January 2021 and December 2022" without providing "sufficient underlying documents that would substantiate" his claimed inability to comply with the support order, the Court of Appeals properly held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding Coburn in contempt. (Op. 8)

The Court of Appeals decision affirming the contempt order does not conflict with Britannia Holdings Ltd. v. Greer, 127 Wn. App. 926, 113 P.3d 1041 (2005), rev. denied, 156 Wn.2d 1032 (2006) (Petition 16), in which the finding court affirmed a that appellants contumacious" but nevertheless reversed the contempt order as "impermissibly penal" because it ordered appellants incarcerated even though there was no showing that appellants had the ability to purge their contempt by paying the sums owed to respondent. 127 Wn. App. at 934, ¶17. In reversing, the court held "[c]oercive incarceration loses its coercive character and becomes punitive where the

contemnor cannot purge the contempt." *Britannia Holdings*, 127 Wn. App. at 933, ¶15.

The Court of Appeals decision here affirming the trial court's conclusion that Coburn was in contempt of the child support order does not conflict with *Britannia Holdings*. Unlike in that case, the trial court did not order Coburn incarcerated if he failed to pay the back support he owed for his proportionate share of the daughter's private school tuition. As the grounds for reversing the contempt order in *Britannia Holdings* are not present here, the court's decision is not in conflict.

The Court of Appeals decision also does not conflict with *Marriage of James*, 79 Wn. App. 436, 441, 903 P.2d 470 (1995), which reversed an order holding a father in contempt of a parenting plan because it "did not contain specific findings of bad faith, intentional misconduct or prior unavailing sanctions." (Petition 16-17) *James* is inapt because it deals with provisions under RCW 26.09.160,

governing the necessary findings for an order in "a contempt action to coerce a parent to comply with an order establishing residential provisions for a child." 79 Wn. App. at 440-41 (citing RCW 26.09.160(2)(b))

Here, the contempt action was not to coerce Coburn's compliance with residential provisions of a court order, therefore RCW 26.09.160 does not apply. Instead, RCW 26.18.050 and RCW 7.21.010 control in this action for contempt of a child support order. RCW 26.18.050 does not require any specific findings of "bad faith" before a parent can be found in contempt of a child support order. Instead, a parent is properly held in contempt if the trial court finds that they intentionally disobeyed a lawful order of the court. *See* RCW 7.21.010(1)(b); *see Didier*, 134 Wn. App. at 500, ¶21.

As the trial court found Coburn's failure comply with the child support order's provision requiring him to pay his proportionate share of the daughter's education expenses was "intentional," it properly held Coburn in contempt. (CP 239-40) Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted.

B. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with decisional and statutory law that provide that special child rearing expenses, such as tuition, must be reasonable and necessary.

Review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision is not warranted based on Coburn's complaint that the court "dismisse[d] the relevance of private school efficacy." (Petition 17-20) The court properly declined to address "Coburn's claims regarding the efficacy and appropriateness of APL's educational services" for the daughter as "those arguments are not relevant to any issue related to the contempt order before us on appeal." (Op. 6-7, n. 4)

Seefeldt has sole decision-making over education decisions for daughter. (CP 15) Seefeldt was thus entitled to enroll daughter at APL regardless of Coburn's objection.

The only issue was Coburn's financial responsibility, which he waived by failing to timely invoke arbitration. (See RP 18)

As the Court of Appeals noted, the April 2022 order "set forth the specific deadlines and requirements to resolve any dispute" regarding the daughter's enrollment at APL for middle school and the parents' financial responsibility. (Op. 6) Because "Coburn was aware of how to request arbitration, having filed a motion to arbitrate the previous year," the court properly held "[s]ubstantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that Coburn waived arbitration of middle school enrollment and his obligation to pay his proportional share of tuition." (Op. 6-7, citing Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn.2d 337, 351-52, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003))

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Mattson v. Mattson*, 95 Wn. App. 592, 599, 976 P.2d 157 (1999) and RCW 26.19.080(4), both of which provide that

before a court enforces a parents' obligation to pay "special child rearing expenses, such as tuition," which are "in excess of the [parents'] basic child support obligation," the court must determine the expenses are "necessary and reasonable." (Petition 20) But whether tuition at APL was a "necessary and reasonable expense" was an issue that was to be addressed in arbitration—*if* timely invoked. (*See* CP 23-25; RP 17-18) Having failed to timely invoke arbitration, per the terms of the April 2022 order, the daughter's attendance at APL for middle school was ratified, as well as Coburn's obligation under the provision in the child support order that requires him to pay his proportionate share of education expenses. (*See* CP 25, 42, 241)

As the only issue before the Court of Appeals was whether Coburn was in contempt of the child support order, the court did not have to address whether there was "substantial proof that the private school offered services that public school could not offer." (Petition 18) Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted.

C. The Court of Appeals decision did not narrow DCS enforcement to medical and child care expenses only.

Review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision is not warranted based on Coburn's false assertion that he "was held in contempt for DCS's refusal to enforce tuition." (Petition 22-24) As the Court of Appeals properly noted, "Coburn's obligation under the child support order was unaffected by whether or not DCS agreed to collect Coburn's share of tuition expenses." (Op. 9) Coburn has an obligation under the child support order regardless of how it is collected. (*See* CP 42)

The Court of Appeals decision did not "narrow[] DCS enforcement to medical and childcare expenses only." (Petition 23) When a child support order does not establish a fixed dollar amount for a parent's support obligation towards certain expenses for a child, DCS may facilitate

enforcement of the child support order by issuing a notice of support to establish a "fixed dollar amount of current and future support obligation that should be paid or the fixed dollar amount of the support debt owed under the support order, or both." *See* RCW 26.23.110. However, DCS will not issue a notice of support for "nonmedical expenses *other than* daycare or child care expenses." (*See* Op. 9); WAC 388-14A-3302(5) (emphasis added).

It is statutes and regulations that control DCS's authority to enforce and collect child support, not case law. See RCW 26.23.045 (identifying "support enforcement services" provided by DCS); WAC 388-14A-1030 (identifying "services provided by the division of child support"). Therefore, review is not warranted for this Court to rule that "DCS has authority over all child support listed in the order unless a trial judge provides a substantial legal basis for an exception." (Petition 23-24)

If DCS declines to pursue enforcement of nonmedical expenses, "[e]ither party may file an action in court to . . . [m]ake a claim for reimbursement of any other child rearing expenses" or "[s]eek any other kind of relief against the other party." WAC 388-14A-3311(4)(b), (c). That is exactly what Seefeldt did here. Once DCS advised both Seefeldt and Coburn that it was not enforcing Coburn's obligation to pay his proportionate share of education expenses by garnishing his wages (CP 58, 205), Seefeldt properly filed her motion for contempt in the superior court to obtain a judgment for his past due obligation and compel payment from Coburn for his current and future obligations. (See CP 11-14) Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted.

D. Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted based on issues unrelated to its decision to affirm the contempt order.

The other issues raised by Coburn in his petition do not warrant review of the Court of Appeals unpublished

decision because they are unrelated to its decision affirming the order holding Coburn in contempt for his failure to pay his proportionate share of the daughter's private school tuition. For instance, whether Coburn signed the enrollment contract for the daughter to attend APL for middle school (Petition 20-21) has no bearing on whether he was in contempt of the child support order. As the court stated, "the trial court neither found him in contempt for failing to sign the APL enrollment contract nor ordered him to sign that document." (Op. 4, n. 3)

Similarly, whether Seefeldt paid Coburn's proportionate share of the daughter's private school tuition (Petition 22) is irrelevant to the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's conclusion that Coburn was in contempt of the child support order. The only relevance of this issue to the contempt order is that the trial court ordered Coburn to pay the back support owed to Seefeldt, rather than directly to the school. (CP 241) However,

among Coburn's many assignments of error to the contempt order, to whom he should pay back support was not one of them. Therefore, whether Seefeldt's assertion that she paid Coburn's proportionate share of tuition is "hearsay" and "should have been excluded" (Petition 22) is not a basis for this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals decision.

E. This Court should award mother fees for answering this petition.

The Court of Appeals awarded attorney fees to Seefeldt pursuant to RCW 26.18.160 and RCW 7.21.030, as the prevailing party in a contempt action to enforce a child support order. (Op. 10) This Court should likewise award Seefeldt fees for having to respond to this petition on the same statutory grounds. RAP 18.1(j).

IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review and award attorney fees to Seefeldt.

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 4,344 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).